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I preferred the Gothic pine cones … I would stroke the pine cones. They would bristle. They were attempting to persuade me to do something. In the tenderness of their shells, in their geometric giddiness, I sensed the rudiments of architecture whose demon has accompanied me all my life.


OSIP MANDELSTAM, Journey to Armenia, 19331
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The Petteril and Eden valleys, with the Lake District to the west and the Pennines to the east.
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 Prologue


The village of Wreay, or ‘Rhea’, as the locals say, to rhyme with ‘near’, lies five miles south of Carlisle. Four country roads meet at the village green, shaded by trees, and across the way is the church. It looks like a small Romanesque chapel from northern Italy, a long oblong with an apse. What is it doing in this northern village, with the mountains of the Lake District to the west, and the Pennines to the east? The closer you get, the odder it seems. The gargoyles are turtles and dragons. Instead of saints and prophets, the window embrasures are carved with ammonites and coral, poppies and wheat, caterpillar and butterfly. Inside, the light is filtered through strange stained glass, bright leaves on black backgrounds, kaleidoscopic mosaics, alabaster cut-outs of fossils. The pulpit is a hollow tree trunk made from black oak, dug from the bog. An eagle and stork of ferocious energy hold up the lectern and reading desk and on the altar table, instead of a cross, are two candlesticks in the shape of the lotus, immortal flower of the East.


This exuberant building was created in 1842 by a local woman, Sarah Losh. Around it she fashioned a whole landscape of memory, equally personal: a Celtic cross and a mausoleum – ‘a Cell in the druidical fashion’ one contemporary gazetteer called it – and a chapel copied from ruins centuries old, uncovered among Cornish dunes. Around the village she built wells, cottages and schools, all of them in her own highly individual style. Architectural critics from Rossetti, who hailed her as a genius, to Simon Jenkins, who called her ‘a Charlotte Bronte in wood and stone’, have described her work as unique, personal, unorthodox. When Nikolaus Pevsner visited Wreay in the 1960s, touring the county for his monumental Buildings of Britain, he was dumbfounded at her originality. Asking which was the finest Victorian church in Cumberland, he wrote, aware of the oddity of the claim, ‘The first building to call out, one introduces with hesitation; for it is a crazy building without any doubt, even if it is a most impressive and in some ways amazingly forward-pointing building: the church at Wreay.’2
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Sarah – who signed herself Sara when young – and her sister Katharine – often called Catherine, or Katherine – came from an old Cumbrian family, but her father and uncles set out across the country to make their fortunes in the new industries on the Tyne, like many men from these parts. They were radicals and freethinkers, scientific experimenters, friends of the Lake poets, campaigners against slavery and for toleration and reform. Heir to all this, Sarah was unusual in many ways – as a woman intellectual, antiquarian and architect – yet she was also typical of her age in combining a concern for the present with an equally strong preoccupation with the past. She destroyed many of her papers and others have been lost, although the Carlisle doctor Henry Lonsdale included extracts from her travel journals in his Worthies of Cumberland in 1873 and the vicar of Wreay, Richard Jackson, copied her forthright notes on the school and the church into his parish notebook. Here and in the manuscript diaries of her uncle James Losh, Sarah’s presence is strong. But it is in her buildings that we have to look for her: she left stones and wood, not letters, for us to read.


She foreshadowed Ruskin and Morris in her use of local materials and appreciation of local craftsmen, while her style anticipated the Arts and Crafts movement by half a century. If the structure of her church is simple, the symbolic language is rich, drawing on a wealth of sources and cultures. And everywhere among those symbols there are pinecones, carved on the walls, on the roof beams and even the graves in the churchyard. The pinecone is an ancient symbol of regeneration, fertility and inner enlightenment: pinecones, carved in stone, decorated a Roman tombstone found at Gallows Hill near Carlisle in Sarah’s day. But the pinecone was also a graphic embodiment of what Sarah, a fine mathematician, would have called the ‘Sacred Geometry’ of nature. The cone’s bracts swirl in opposing directions from the base, following the spiralling Fibonacci sequence, a mathematical wonder since the thirteenth century, a simple sequence that comes from adding to each number the one that came before it – 1, 2, 3, 5, 8, 13 – which achieves a unique ratio, the Golden Mean. The pattern is found throughout nature from the seeds of a sunflower to the whirls on a snail shell, and – although Sarah Losh would not have known this – it is there in the twists of DNA and the wheels of galaxies. It is the geometry of life.


As I pieced together Sarah’s story, I found that it too spiralled outwards, in overlapping curves. It is the tale of a pioneering, imaginative woman, but also of a colourful extended family and of the changing life of a village. It tells of ancient stones and Celtic crosses but also of the struggle of Carlisle weavers, the growth of Tyneside industries, the coming of the railways and the long fight for reform, and the fate of a soldier in the passes of Afghanistan. It shows how the industrial revolution made some women independent and how they burned to make their mark. Her story is intensely local but it opens on to many aspects of late Georgian and early Victorian England, driven by the energy and ideas that flowed through the age. Sarah Losh’s buildings are Romantic in their powerful expression of sympathy between the human and natural world, yet Victorian in embodying the layers of history beneath the present, the findings of geology that shook conventional faith, and the concern with death, mutability and transience. Her favourite symbol, the pinecone, with its promise of rebirth, is also the way into her life and her work – as you enter the church and close the oak door behind you, the door-latch is two overlapping cones, carved in wood, touching and swinging apart.




I


DAUGHTER


[image: image]




[image: image]


1 The Walk


In mid-March the Cumbrian skies are sometimes a clear, cutting blue. At noon, the sun holds a faint touch of warmth, but it is cold, half a season behind the southern counties. Snowdrops are still out and wild daffodils just in bud. Sitting on the low wall with its rounded arches, around the enclosure of family graves, on a March day in 1850, Sarah Losh could feel snow in the breeze as she listened to the children’s voices from the school across the road that she and her sister Katharine had built long ago. From here Sarah could survey her kingdom. At her back was her church and in front of her the broad green oval on the slope of the hill was ringed with her works. The buildings with their ancient forms looked now like part of the landscape, as if they had always been here. On the brow of the hill, she could see the wall of the new cemetery that she had given to the village, the mortuary chapel, standing out against the skyline, and the sexton’s cottage beside it. Then the road dipped back to the churchyard, past the little dame school down to the cottages and the blacksmith’s shop and the Plough Inn, before plunging towards the river Petteril in the valley.


Her first task, when she began to plan her church, had been to move the lane that cut across the north of the churchyard to the other side, so that it circled the whole domain. The process was slow, following set customs. First she had to gain the agreement of the Twelve Men of Wreay, the landowners and farmers who had run village affairs since the Restoration, using the rents of parish land to pay the schoolmaster, administering local charities and acting as guardians of the poor. Every Candlemas Eve, before the quarter day that falls on 2 February, they met at the Plough at six in the evening to conduct their business, then paid a shilling for their supper of bread, cheese, oatcake, butter and ale, lit their churchwarden pipes and filled their tankards before they told tales, sang ballads and recited poetry. They were ‘the Township’, and convivial or not, they took their role seriously. In notes and petitions in the early eighteenth century the men asked for the schoolmaster to be made a deacon so that he could administer baptisms and visit the sick.1 Sarah’s great-grandfather, William Losh, was one of the signatories to this petition, and in the year of her birth the list of the Twelve Men included both her grandfather and her father.


The vicar, William Gaskin, who had lived with her family before his marriage, when he was a young curate, had recorded the meetings of the Twelve Men in his leather-bound notebook since 1786, when she was born. In her own notes describing the building of the church Sarah explained that the plot of land on which it stood was ‘anciently part of the common belonging to the Township’ and when Wreay Common was enclosed in 1778, ‘this was hedged in to form a cow grassing’ for the parish clerk. The original church on the common was a long, low building dating back to the time of Edward II: in 1319 the bishop allowed a chaplain here.2 The district was known as the Chapelry of Wreay, a sub-parish of St Mary’s abbey in Carlisle, and villagers always referred to the church simply as ‘the chapel’. In 1739 it was reconsecrated as St Mary’s of Wreay and since 1750 burials had been allowed here, relieving the families of the arduous custom of carrying the corpse to the mother church in Carlisle.


When Sarah persuaded the Twelve Men to hand the land over to her in 1836, their action, she said, enabled her ‘to improve the appearance of the place by planting it with evergreens and also to rebuild, with a little additional space, the wall of the chapel yard, which had almost wholly disappeared’. It seemed a reasonable and modest exchange, a gracious act by a local benefactor. But more was to come. ‘June twentieth, 1836’, the minutes declared in a looping hand, ‘Resolved unanimously that leave be granted to Miss Losh to divert the Road to the West end of the Chapel yard’. But moving the road, although no one noted this at the time, also left her room to build a new church.


*   *   *


For many years the villagers remembered Sarah in her black cloak and bonnet, walking from the church to her home at Woodside, a good mile away. At the brow of the hill, where she could lean on the gate to the sexton’s cottage, Wreay lay behind her in a sheltered curve on the side of the ridge that blocked the view to the west. To the east, though, the view suddenly widened: across the valleys of the Petteril and the Eden, the long shoulders of the Pennines sloped northwards from the heights of Cross Fell, still covered in snow, towards Carrock Fell, the small town of Brampton and the Newcastle road. She knew the name of every field she passed, for she owned them all, over six hundred acres on both sides of the road, as far as the hamlets of Brisco and Upperby, almost up to Carlisle.


The old road, known as Waygates, ran straight as an arrow. Before the enclosures of the late eighteenth century – from which the Loshes gained considerably – this had been a track across common land, crossing others at right angles with no need to circle awkwardly round private property. It was unusually wide, so that haycarts could pass, avoiding ruts and boggy patches. One half of it was paved and the other half was left as common. Canon Hall, the vicar of Wreay in the early twentieth century, remembered this wide margin as ‘a wild tangle of gorse, sallows, brambles, honeysuckle, and dog roses, with meadow sweet, peppermint, orchids, and other flowers below’. In spring there were violets and dog’s mercury, in autumn it was red with haws and hips, and in winter the snow lay deep and frozen.
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The road ran past the farms of Wood House and Low Hurst, then down through a small wood, across the beck and up the hill to Woodside. The old house, set at right angles to the road, stood on a spur of land with views to all points of the compass. The effect of an airy plateau was strengthened by the way the grass was banked up to the top of the wall so that the road was hidden and the eye passed straight across to the fields and trees of the West Park: on a clear day you could see the Caldbeck Fells and the back of Saddleback, northern sentinel of the Lakes. Across the hidden ditch of the ha-ha, the view stretched across the pond and clumps of trees in the North Park to the hazy land of the borders; to the east lay the Pennines, and to the south Woodside’s windows gazed across terraced lawns to the heights of Cross Fell.
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A leisurely walk on the Woodside lawns, from William Hutchinson’s History of Cumberland, published in 1794, when Sarah was eight.


The Loshes had lived at Woodside for generations and her grandfather John had turned the old house into a Georgian mansion, with sweeping lawns and open views. A sundial stood in the garden, marked ‘1757’, two years after his marriage. When her parents John and Isabella married in 1785, her grandparents moved to a house in Fisher Street in Carlisle, leaving Woodside to them. Sarah was born on New Year’s Day 1786, and baptised six days later in St Cuthbert’s, Carlisle. This was where all the family worshipped when they were in the city, where her parents had married and where her grandparents were buried within a week of each other in April 1789 – Catherine dying first and the Squire tumbling after.


Sarah was three when her grandfather died, but stories abounded of this huge, rumbustious man, twenty stone or more, with a roaring voice and bellowing laugh, fair-haired and red-faced, known as the Big Black Squire after the black stallion he rode. The Loshes were not among the grandest landowners but they were friends with all the powerful local families: the Blamires of Thackwood, a few miles away; the Hudlestons of Hutton John to the south; the Aglionbys of Nunnery; and the three branches of the Howard family, at Greystoke Castle, Corby and Naworth. They knew the Christians of Cockermouth and the magnates of the coast, like the Curwens of Workington Hall, who combined collieries with farming, the Senhouses of Netherhall, who had developed the fishing village of Maryport into a thriving port, and the Spedding families of Whitehaven and Bassenthwaite. Beyond this the marriages of the Squire’s sisters brought connections with other well-known local names which would be marked in the margins of Sarah’s life: Parkers, Bells and Wilsons.3


The Squire married pretty, charming Catherine Liddell, a woman less than half his size. She came from Burgh-by-Sands – or ‘Bruff’ in local speech – where the flat lands and creeks at the mouth of the Eden merged into the misty wastes of the Solway Firth. They were a sociable couple and they and their children were great favourites in Carlisle society. John was born in 1757, the eldest of nine children, eight boys and a girl, Margaret. The Loshes had their share of family tragedies: one of a pair of twins died within a week and their second son, William, died aged ten, after a fall from a tree while bird-nesting. Then just before John married, his brother Joseph, a young dragoons officer, died in Gloucester: there were lasting rumours of a duel, but his violent fever seems to have stemmed not from wounds but from heatstroke in the fierce July sun. Three years later Margaret’s twin brother Robert collapsed in Newcastle when he was nineteen, after a walking match ‘which, however, he won’.4 These shadows hovered over Sarah’s childhood. But when she was growing up her aunt Margaret and her uncles James and George, still in their twenties, and another William, who was fourteen when she was born, were vibrantly alive.


Their world was far from cut off in the late 1780s, however much their family friend Kitty Senhouse might lament that travel was so difficult: ‘The mail being overturn’d does not surprise one as I believe accidents often happen to it unknown to anyone but those who have the misfortune of sharing in them – for the obvious reason that if it was known nobody would be foolhardy enough to trust so dangerous a conveyance.’5 The Loshes had a house in London and business interests in Newcastle and Edinburgh and their sons travelled the world. The Squire was interested in new scientific ideas and friendly with the intellectuals of the cathedral close. His plans for his sons followed a standard pattern for the landed gentry: the eldest, John, would inherit the land; the next, James, would go into the church; the third – the ill-fated Joseph – into the army. The younger sons, Robert, George and William, would make their way in trade. As far as that was concerned, there were already good openings in Newcastle. Their mother Catherine had useful family connections with the Liddells of Ravensworth, powerful coal owners and merchants who were prominent in the politics of the Tyne.


John and his brothers had a radical, adventurous streak and looked far beyond Carlisle. All were talented linguists, studying abroad in France and Germany and the Low Countries, lovers of literature, filling the old house with books. They were born into a new age of improvement, science, law, industry and reform. Like many Cumbrians of their generation, their futures lay on the quays of Newcastle as much as in the markets of Carlisle.
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Cumberland, from the Lyson brothers’ Magna Britannia, 1816.


After his father died, John was head of the family, technically responsible for his younger brothers – although in the event it was James, the second son, who worried about their lives and sorted out their problems. Until they were sixteen James and John were both taught at home by the curate William Gaskin, whom James summed up as a man of ‘considerable powers of mind’, who had studied law and was a good classical scholar, despite being uncouth in his manners and abrupt in his speech.6 From Wreay they went to be tutored by John Dawson, a brilliant, self-taught doctor and mathematician who took private pupils at Sedbergh, on the edge of the Yorkshire dales. Dawson’s story became part of local lore: the poor boy from Garsdale in Yorkshire who walked to Edinburgh with his savings sewn into his coat to train as a doctor and eventually became a noted tutor at Cambridge, studying the orbit of the moon and correcting calculations of the distance of the earth from the sun. Mathematics, Dawson showed, could describe the world and open new vistas.


Both John and James Losh went on to Cambridge. James took his degree in 1786, the year of Sarah’s birth. He began, as planned, by studying for the church but at Cambridge he became an admirer of Joseph Priestley, a Unitarian and avowed republican; no longer eligible for the church, he enrolled at Lincoln’s Inn and was called to the Bar. His home, though, was still Woodside, and in his twenties, when Sarah and Katharine were girls, he cut a striking Rousseau-esque figure, distinctly at odds with the farmers around him, elegantly dressed, his dark, shining hair hanging over his shoulders. George and William went to school briefly at Hawkshead, where William lodged with Anne Tyson at the same time as William Wordsworth and his younger brothers John and Christopher, and the Spedding brothers.7 George, always confrontational or ‘disputacious’ as James called him, was destined for commerce and studied in France and Germany, while William went to college in Erfurt in the centre of Germany, where he met and became a lifelong friend of the great naturalist and explorer Alexander von Humboldt. The two brothers spent time in Sweden, a centre of new discoveries in chemistry and, with Russia, one of Newcastle’s great trading partners for timber, tar and bar-iron. George also went to Russia, astounding the locals by walking out without a topcoat, and both brothers travelled to Italy, perhaps taking their sister Margaret with them.8
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George Losh, looking fine in his green silk waistcoat – the only known portrait of any of the four surviving Losh brothers as dashing young men.


Sarah’s father, John, was carefree, ‘handsome in person, and highly generous, fond of the beautiful in woman as well as art and nature’, as Henry Lonsdale tactfully put it.9 A gregarious soul, he was ‘studious to please everybody, and as ready to entertain a peasant as a peer … cock of the walk, and one of the most popular of men’. In the girls’ childhood he was seen at all county gatherings, riding a black mare as highly strung as his father’s, and was known for his love of country sports, following the hounds, wrestling and cock-fighting. Her mother, Isabella, was ten years his junior, only eighteen when they married. Small and elegant, with a classical profile, she was easy-going, affectionate and impulsive, fiercely defensive of her family, her husband and her children. She was not a local girl but came from Callerton Hall, near Newcastle. Her family, like the Loshes, cherished their history and stuck to their radical principles: one forebear, Thomas Bonner, had held out as a Puritan mayor in royalist Newcastle in 1649, and Cromwell, who was deeply unpopular in the region, was reputed to have hidden in the Hall. By contrast, when Isabella’s brother, Robert Bonner, inherited his uncle’s estate of Warwick Hall, east of Carlisle, and changed his name to Warwick in 1792, he moved into a devoutly Catholic enclave. The Warwicks were Catholics and Jacobites, like their neighbours, the Howards of Corby Castle: if Cromwell stayed at Callerton, Bonnie Prince Charlie slept at Warwick Hall. Woodside itself was the birthplace of Christopher Robinson, a Catholic priest who preached in defiance of the laws of Elizabeth I and was hanged, drawn and quartered in Carlisle in 1597. Tolerance and religious liberty, Sarah came to believe, were the only ways forward.


The Losh babies came fast. When Sarah was one her new brother John died at the age of five weeks; a year later, in early February 1788, Katharine was born, and last of all Joseph, the longed-for male heir. The children shared the nursery, looked after by their nurse and their mother. The girls thrived, began to read, took trips to Carlisle, paid calls on neighbours, visited their Losh and Warwick relations, and went to dancing lessons in Dalston a few miles away.10 But Joseph was slow, and it was soon clear that something was wrong with him: he grew up to be severely backward, so much so that he could never look after himself and had to be cared for all his life. The hope of Woodside lay, after all, with the girls.
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2 City and Strife


From childhood on, Sarah knew the great and good of Carlisle, the powerful men of the church, the politicians and the dignitaries. She absorbed many ideas from them, about faith, about history, about science, but she knew them as individuals with flaws as well as representatives of old institutions and she consistently made her own judgements.


After her grandparents died the Carlisle house was let and eventually sold, but the life of the Loshes still revolved around the city as well as Woodside and Wreay. Carlisle, whose cathedral’s nave was demolished in the civil wars, had once been the vital centre of defences against the Scots but by now it had reverted to its role as a cathedral city and market town, admired for its wide streets and ‘modern and elegant’ houses, with twice-yearly hiring fairs and a Great Fair lasting two whole weeks.1 New roads linked it to Whitehaven in the west and Newcastle in the east, and stagecoaches ran south over the treacherous heights of Shap Fell, taking three days to reach London. It was also a port, with ships loading and unloading at Sandsfield along the Solway and carts or packhorses carrying goods into the city. The poor of the city, for good or ill, had a dispensary to serve them as well as a cockpit and plenty of inns, selling beer from the breweries by the Irish Gate.


There were plenty of poor by the 1780s, as people streamed in to work in the new textile industry. This had begun forty years before, with a woollen business run by German immigrants, followed in 1761 by the first of the calico printers. One branch of the Losh family, Sarah’s distant second cousins, quickly became involved: in the mid-1770s Thomas Losh established Losh & Co.’s Cotton Stampery on the millrace at Denton Holme while his brothers also traded as calico and cotton printers. Years later Robert Anderson, ‘The Cumbrian Bard’, remembered how as a boy he was apprenticed to a pattern drawer, and in 1783, he wrote, ‘I cheerfully commenced the study of that business, under a truly respectable concern, T. Losh & Co., Denton Holme, near Carlisle; where I enjoyed all the happiness an industrious youth could hope for, being treated with every mark of esteem.’2


Mills and warehouses spread along the low plain to the south and west of Carlisle, cut off from the city by the river Caldew and the high medieval walls, and yet more were built in the outlying villages. One local man wrote to his son in Manchester in December 1791 mentioning two new mills in Dalston, one in Carlisle, and ‘another going forwards at Warwick Bridge … we shall be nothing but cotton factories in the North in a short space of time’.3 These were all spinning mills, using new machines, but in Carlisle – much longer than most other districts – the weaving was still done by out-workers on looms in their own homes with the whole family involved, taking their ‘piece’ to the factory once a week to pick up their supply of yarn; those working for Carlisle firms radiated out a hundred miles, even to Ireland. Wages were good: in the boom years of the 1790s a weaver could earn over a pound a week, twice as much as a farm labourer. After that other processes followed: stamping, dyeing, printing. Near to Woodside, Sarah’s father John found a good source of extra income in leasing land at Woodbank, down by the Petteril near Brisco, for a new bleaching works, with a ‘dye house for six coppers, a large three-storey printing house adjoining with a large water wheel, a large drying house and about forty-two acres of bleaching grounds’, where the cloth was laid out in the sun to fix the colours.4 The poet Robert Anderson went on to work here too, celebrating Woodbank’s fine colours – ‘Black, red, purple, blue, yellow, green’ – in his song ‘The Bonny Stampt Gown’.5


Carlisle’s population doubled and then trebled, with immigrants arriving from Scotland and Ireland, prompting loud and depressingly familiar complaints about ‘the numerous hordes of the idle and unsettled’, arriving ‘with one fixed idea – that we are compelled to maintain and support them’. In 1797, when Joseph Milner visited his brother Isaac, Dean of Carlisle, he felt the city had need of Isaac’s powerful preaching. ‘The people here are a well-behaved, simple people,’ he wrote:





the refinement, shall I say, or the lewdness and impudence, of the southern part of our island, they know not. They have the sample, I take it, of the manners of the whole country, in the time of James I. But they are withal, very ignorant in religion; they wander as sheep without a shepherd. They seem, however, open to conviction, they have conscience. There are, here, some Methodist and Dissenting interests, but feeble and of little weight, nor is there a Dissenter here of any popularity, or, as it should seem, of any religious zeal. What a fine field for a pastor, steady, fervent, intelligent, and charitable.6





For the county elite with their country estates and town houses in English Street, Castle Street and Fisher Street the cathedral was a focal point, and one of the Losh family’s favourite guests was the Yorkshire-born Archdeacon William Paley. Short and square, with bushy eyebrows, Paley was that odd but very British type, a conservative radical, arguing for toleration and rational enquiry and elaborating his own argument of the existence of God from design. The Loshes collected his books, even after he left Carlisle in 1793: The Principles of Moral and Political Philosophy in 1785, the View of the Evidences of Christianity in 1794, countering Hume’s scepticism about miracles, and Natural Theology in 1802, with its famous opening thesis that if we see an ingeniously made watch, ‘the inference, we think, is inevitable, that the watch must have had a maker: that there must have existed, at some time, and at some place or other, an artificer or artificers who formed it for the purpose which we find it actually to answer; who comprehended its construction, and designed its use’: so from the complexity of the world we infer an intelligent creator with a definite design.7 The book was an immediate success, going through nine editions before Paley’s death in 1805, and his message and method lingered in Sarah’s own thinking all her life.
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Carlisle in 1822, showing the city still huddling within its walls, with the Castle (A) and Cathedral (B) to the north and the Citadel (E) forming the gateway to the south.


Paley was also a dazzling mathematician and keen scientific observer. Forceful and clear, he argued, like Joseph Priestley, that people came to know God through studying nature, citing his own investigations: the stones and plants he brought home from his walks, the bone structures of the fish or chickens or game he ate. He was blunt, humorous and funny, and down to earth. In the summers, which he always spent at his Dalston vicarage, he fished, farmed, gardened and visited neighbours, including the Loshes. A genial father of eight children, and a great dinner companion, at Woodside Paley was ‘en accord with mine host, enjoyed his joke and bit of pleasantry, and never failed as a trencherman’.8


This large personality was matched by the dean, Isaac Milner. His story too was remarkable – he had been apprenticed as a weaver until his elder brother paid for his education, but rose to become president of Queens’ College, Cambridge, Lucasian professor of mathematics and a notable experimental chemist. Evangelical in his leanings, bulky in his physical presence, Milner was hardly a clerical figure, uproarious in company and known for dashing nude through the gardens at Queens’. He was a great friend of the Wreay curate William Gaskin, who himself ‘belonged to that old school of country parsons who could enjoy a fox-hunt and cock-fight as well as his Greek Testament’.9 In later years Gaskin would find his way home after a heavy evening by collapsing unsteadily into his trap and letting the pony have its head. But he too was a fine mathematician and classical scholar who scattered his conversation with Latin quotations. He was quite capable of beating Milner in argument, although he complained of his late hours ‘and of his inability to contend with the learned Dean at two o’clock in the morning, inasmuch as his brandy potations were not so potent in argument as the Dean’s opium taking!’ (Milner took his opium for a heart condition, and was often in pain, allegedly due to inhaling ‘noxious gas’ during a youthful experiment.) He and Gaskin – both genial, argumentative men – were regulars at John Losh’s dinners, which were never light on the brandy.


The experience of these Carlisle men also took in other lands, other ways of life, other histories. Two of the Spedding sons, John and William, who were close friends of George and William, went overseas to try to rescue the family fortunes, one to the West Indies, the other to Calcutta. John’s friend Joseph Gilpin – brother of the writer William and the artist Sawrey – was a dashing man about town, who had been an army medical officer in the American War of Independence and in the West Indies: he was knighted for his work in an epidemic at Gibraltar and was four times mayor of Carlisle. Another friend, the son of a local doctor, was the Rev. Joseph Carlyle, who christened Sarah in 1786: he learned Arabic from an Iraqi friend at Cambridge, succeeded Paley as archdeacon in 1793 and two years later became professor of Arabic at Cambridge, publishing translations and Specimens of Arabic Poetry.10


*   *   *


While friends travelled across the seas John Losh stayed at home and took his place in the village as head of the Twelve Men as his forebears had done. The tasks were small, but vital to the people of Wreay. One minute reads: ‘Feb. 2 1792. Joseph Dodd agrees to take Jane Moor and supply her with food and clothes on the following conditions: to receive from the parish of Wreay £5.15.0. per annum, to have her work, find her with tobacco, and to return her at the year’s end (if that be necessary) in the same condition in regard to clothing as he found her’.11 These tough men were prepared to deal in detail: Jane’s clothes, a later entry specifies, were to include two petticoats, one shift, repairing shoes, ‘a brat apron’, a bedgown, and a neck cloth. She stayed as Dodd’s servant until she died a few years later.


The Twelve Men cared for the roads, the fences and the church as well as the people. The same minute that sent Jane Moor to Joseph Dodd has another entry, resolving that a house should be built in the enclosure round the chapel, which had been appointed for the use of the parish clerk. This came to nothing: the following year’s note reads ‘The above mentioned house is not yet built, unsurmountable difficulties having arisen’. It was never built, leaving the land clear a generation later for Sarah’s church. In the mid-1780s the old bridge needed repairing and they all subscribed, but only a shilling or sixpence each, so the damage was clearly minor. Then a decade later a new bridge needed building across Woodside Beck, and a few years after that new pews had to be made for the chapel. This was a delicate matter, a mapping of status. Every land-holding was entitled to a pew and families who worshipped regularly were to be ‘allowed their seats as usual’ if they paid a proportion of the expenses. Two men were appointed ‘to take the trouble of allotting and setting out the pews and sittings in such manner as shall appear to them fair, proper and reasonable’. John Losh had a pew in the front and another in the twelfth row, for his servants.12


John’s interests, however, spread beyond the village to the city, the region and the nation. In Sarah’s early years the house resounded with talk of politics. The Loshes were firm Whigs, and in 1780 John Losh was on a committee, with his uncle Joseph Liddell and Humphrey Senhouse, to promote a petition noting the ‘calamitous and impoverished’ condition of the country after the recent wars. But their main focus was opposition to the magnate Sir James Lowther, ‘Wicked Jimmy’, ‘Jimmy Grasp-all, Earl of Toadstool’ or simply ‘the Bad Earl’. One of the wealthiest men in England, by the age of twenty-one Lowther had inherited estates across Cumberland and Westmorland, as well as collieries on the west coast and the booming port of Whitehaven.13 He was a man of violent temper, tyrannical to his tenants and employees: Wordsworth’s father worked as his land agent for years and never had his expenses paid – Wordsworth was eventually reimbursed by Lowther’s heir, long after his father’s death. Aiming at political power Lowther manoeuvred his way to become mayor of Carlisle, filled the corporation with his nominees and bought seats in the House of Commons, spending thousands at each election. In 1784 he was created first Earl of Lonsdale by a grateful William Pitt. Lonsdale had handed Pitt his first parliamentary seat, at Appleby in Westmorland, and also promised that ‘his’ MPs, collectively dubbed ‘Sir James’s ninepins’, would support Pitt in the Commons. John Losh and his friends were aghast at Lonsdale’s tactics. Fearing he might lose one of his Carlisle seats he persuaded the corporation to create nearly twelve hundred new freemen, all with the power to vote: over five hundred of these came from Lonsdale’s own collieries. When his cousin, John Lowther, won the seat, this ‘mushroom’ vote was overturned after a petition in favour of John Losh’s friend John Christian (who caused a considerable stir when he eloped with his heiress cousin Isabella Curwen in 1782, adding her name to his in 1790).14


All the Loshes’ friends were Whigs and chief among them was Charles Howard of Greystoke Castle, who preceded John Christian Curwen as a Carlisle MP before moving to the House of Lords on becoming Earl of Surrey and Duke of Norfolk. Years later, at the height of the Napoleonic wars, Howard risked everything when he gave a toast at a great political dinner at the Crown and Anchor in the Strand, to ‘Our Sovereign’s health – the majesty of the people’. A drinking companion of John Losh, he was a large, clumsy figure, a great womaniser, and so unkempt that it was said the only way his servants could get him to wash was to hose him down when he was drunk. But if his speech was slurred his wit was sharp, and it was his idea to put on a parodic anti-Lowther satire that left a lasting impression on Wreay. After dinner at Woodside (and a deal to drink), gossip about Carlisle corporation apparently ‘gave such a zest to the walnuts and wine that it was agreed to dramatise the said municipal body’, to accompany the annual Wreay cock-fight.15 Howard, the Losh brothers and their uncle Joseph Liddell met at the Plough, where they elected their own corporation prefaced by a letter, ‘professedly directed from the great bashaw of Lowther Castle’. Howard was mayor, John Losh and his brother James were sword-bearer and recorder, Liddell was town clerk and other officials followed. Wearing the Whig, anti-Lowther blue sash, Howard was chaired around the village, as in Hogarth’s satirical print, The Election. For nearly a century this charade became a Shrove Tuesday show, with the new mayor being carried along the green ‘to the accompaniment of “See the Conquering Hero Comes”, being pelted with oranges the while’.16


This enactment was typical of the world in which Sarah grew up. She was a child of the Regency, when manners were broader, wit harder and when women, even among the gentry, were raised to know their own mind.


*   *   *


With the French revolution in 1789, politics took a sharper turn. The fall of the Bastille in July that year was greeted with widespread delight in Britain as showing that the French people were throwing off the shackles of absolutism and moving nearer, so it was thought, towards the British parliamentary rule. But over the next two years opinion became divided. While many young enthusiasts, the British Jacobins, dashed to Paris to support the cause, the anti-Jacobins – supported by an increasingly nervous government – gathered their forces. By 1791 the argument was intense. Burke’s Reflections on the Revolution in France, published in November 1790, provoked a host of replies, including Mary Wollstonecraft’s A Vindication of the Rights of Men and Tom Paine’s Rights of Man of 1791. William Paley, rattled by the French terror and Paine’s popularity – he once threw a copy of the Rights of Man angrily on the fire – now showed his conservative side, writing pamphlets and reprinting one of his Dalston sermons, Reasons for Contentment, Addressed to the Labouring Part of the British Public, suggesting that the labourers’ lot was happy compared to that of the anxious rich.17


The corridors of Woodside were touched by these debates. There had long been ‘patriotic clubs’ in the region and the French Jacobin Marat – who spent three years in Newcastle in the 1770s – had visited those in Carlisle and Penrith. In May 1791, there were ‘Church and King’ riots across the country against allegedly dangerous radicals like Joseph Priestley of Birmingham, and in the same year a warrant was put out for the arrest of John and James Losh and four others ‘for being unlawfully, riotously and routously assembled together and disturbing the peace of our Lord the King’.18 Nothing seems to have come of this, but James in particular advocated anti-war views and joined the republican Patriotic Club of Carlisle.


His younger brother William had been in the French capital, studying chemistry with Lavoisier, when the revolution broke out. Now, in 1792, James crossed to Paris. France was already at war with Austria and Prussia and fervour was high: that July it became compulsory for men to wear the tricolour cockade and in August came the storming of the Tuileries, when Louis XVI and his family were taken into custody. James went to meetings of the Convention when Danton, the new minister of justice, was at his most eloquent, and he also allegedly had a narrow escape from being strung up by a mob who took him for an aristocrat. In the first week of September, when France was braced for a Prussian invasion, counter-revolutionaries were massacred in the prisons of Paris. By 10 September, James was back in Southampton, ‘but not without considerable perils by land and water’.19 A letter arrived at Woodside. James doubted, he said, that the Prussians would reach Paris: ‘the zeal of the People is astonishing, they crowd by thousands to the Frontiers’. But in his view the revolution was doomed. ‘A furious party’, led by Robespierre, was ‘throwing everything into confusion and probably ruining their country in order to gratify a wild rage for impracticable schemes’. Having spent two days ‘witnessing the most dreadful barbarities’ James abandoned his clothes and books and fled the city by taking over a diligence that previous passengers had deserted, for fear, they said, of being murdered at the barriers. After driving through a stormy night to Le Havre he sailed home in ‘a perfect hurricane’, crammed into a small packet boat with seven or eight Englishmen and over fifty French priests. James was unnerved, but did not shed his idealism. He would be a reformer all his life.


*   *   *


In family memory, as a small child Sarah was ‘lively, talkative and intelligent, and not without some petulancy of temper, arising from undue sensitiveness to any interference with her own wishes’.20 In other words, rather spoilt. Although she learned to keep her temper, the wilfulness and determination endured. Katharine was always milder. If we could watch them in 1792, what would we see? When their uncle James came riding north to Woodside, shaken, full of news, Sarah was six and Katharine four. They stood in the hall, Sarah already protective, holding her sister’s hand as large men stamped through the door, shouting for help in pulling off their boots, patting the girls absent-mindedly on the head. Both girls had light brown hair and grey eyes, Sarah taller and leaner, Katharine pinker, rounder. In summer they wore muslin gowns with square necks and high waists, just short enough to run in but not to show their linen bloomers, edged with lace. In winter they were squeezed into warm woollens, with mufflers against the Woodside draughts. They ate in the nursery, plain children’s food, but they could smell the beef and duck, the hams and gooseberry tarts being cooked for their father’s guests, and see the bottles of claret on the sideboard, ready for the long evenings when the men sat and argued about politics and other things beyond their world.


They heard stories. That Uncle George had been to Russia and brought home bearskins; that William had been in Germany and had saved a famous explorer’s life in a storm; that James had escaped from a howling mob. In spring, they went out with their father, scooped up on his horse or running beside him to keep up with his stride, to see the new plantations, green against dark earth. In summer they played on the lawns with hoops and balls, screaming as the ball ran over the ha-ha, and exploring the tangle of brushwood round the beck. In the mornings, upstairs in their schoolroom, they read the little books printed by Thomas Slack, a Wreay man who had left for Newcastle a generation ago, but whose family still lived in the village.21 There were alphabets with A for apple and B for bird, drawn in small squares, and stories of Little Red Riding Hood and Goody Two Shoes. As one of the nearby Blamire family remembered: ‘Our books were limited but much read and loved – Evenings at Home, Miss Edgeworth’s Tales, Sandford & Merton, Robinson Crusoe – The Blond Child etc. Illustrated papers had scarcely appeared.’22 And their mother told tales of border raids and reivers and read aloud to them, perhaps, the manuscript poems of Susanna Blamire, the aunt of Sarah’s friend Jane.


Joseph would never read fluently, let alone become an intellectual. Sarah took the place of the scholar son, learning stories of Greek gods and Roman republican heroes, reading Mrs Marcet’s books on science and the Edgeworths’ tales. On rainy days the girls might look at their father’s collection of minerals, gathered from the fells, and fossils found in the quarries and mines. And on Sundays, the family and their servants went to Wreay, to the old church, to hear Mr Gaskin’s sermons.
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3 Foundations


When she made her notes about the building of the church in 1842, Sarah recorded that when the workmen were clearing the ground they discovered ‘at no great depth, a series of broad, thick, white flagstones, forming two angles of a considerable building, of which no other trace has been left’.1 It might have been possible, she thought, that a square tower had ‘anciently’ (a favourite adverb) occupied the space, noting that the field next door was still known as ‘the guards’. Wreay had been a prosperous village in medieval times. It would have needed defence against the border raids from the north.


This border had always been fluid. The last Norse king, Dunmail, was killed in AD 945, an ending that Wordsworth remembered in his poem ‘The Waggoner’, where the horses tread cautiously on the steep hill out of Grasmere:





And now have reached that pile of stones


Heaped over brave King Dunmail’s bones;


His who had once supreme command,


Last king of rocky Cumberland;


His bones, and those of all his power


Slain here in a disastrous hour!





After Dunmail’s death Cumbria was ruled for a century by the Scottish kings, then briefly by the Earls of Northumberland before the coming of the Normans in 1092. William Rufus built a castle at Carlisle and his brother erected a priory. Rule swung back and forth between Scots and English until Edward I began his attacks on Scotland, starting a hundred years of sporadic warfare in which no farm or village, nunnery or abbey, was safe. A formal border was established in 1237 but for almost four hundred years the Scottish marches were a disputed realm and a large tract of land north of Brampton, ‘the Debatable Lands’, never bowed to either throne; its people obeyed their own laws, sending gangs of reivers across the borders to raid and burn. This was a land of blood where defensive towers were needed. In the mid sixteenth century the Crown officers tried to stand back and let the clans wipe each other out, but they stayed strong until the Union of the Crowns in 1603, when James I abolished the old Border Laws and executed the poorer clan members in a glut of hangings. After that the region seemed calm, although unrest simmered beneath the surface.


*   *   *


Pondering on the existence of the tower, Sarah added that the village had needed protecting not only from the north, but also from the south, since it was ‘especially exposed to aggression by its proximity to Inglewood Forest, the noted retreat of desperate outlaws’. This tract of land, ‘the Wood of the Angles’ stretching from Carlisle to Penrith, had become a royal forest soon after the Norman Conquest, but it remained a land of legend, linked in local minds with King Arthur and Gawain and his search for the Green Knight, or seen as the true haunt of Robin Hood, according to one fifteenth-century chronicle.2 Its heartland lay around the parishes of Hesket-in-the-Forest and Hutton-in-the-Forest, where manorial courts still took place every June in Sarah’s day, when tenants paid their annual dues by a flat table-stone next to an old tree, the Court-Thorn. Local antiquaries liked to point out the spot where an ancient oak had stood near Wragmire Moss, near Wreay, ‘the last tree of Inglewood Forest’, enduring the storms of six hundred years until it finally toppled in 1823.3


Villagers could still remember the tower that had stood until recently at Wreay Hall, guarding the potteries on the bank of the Petteril. Surely, Sarah argued, something similar would have been needed at Wreay, a key stopping point on the road between Carlisle and Penrith. Some people, she noted – as if continuing a recent argument – might suggest that the building had been a hermit’s cell, or something else connected to the chapel. But there was no record of that since there was only a monthly service here, performed by a monk from St Mary’s priory in Carlisle.


In Sarah’s childhood, dedicated antiquarians were busy studying the region’s past. Antiquarians, who studied the remnants of the past in stones or household objects, as well as in historical accounts, had a long history, dating back to William Camden’s Britannia, at the end of the sixteenth century, a county-by-county survey searching out traces of the past in the present landscape. The interest spread after the Society of Antiquaries was re-founded in London in 1717, and given a royal charter in 1751. As well as printing papers in its journal Archaeologia the society published volumes of engravings of buildings, monuments and coins. Many artists were involved in its work, like Joseph Farington and Thomas Hearne, who included many beautifully drawn scenes from Cumberland and Westmorland, and careful architectural views, in his Antiquities of Great Britain, published in series from the late 1770s onward. The ‘antiquaries’ were mocked for their fussiness and obsession but they contributed invaluable information and the county histories sprang out of their work, like Hutchinson’s History of Cumberland of 1794, to which John Losh contributed his knowledge of local fossils, minerals, semi-metals and strata, an impressive mix of scholarship and personal observation.4


The antiquarian interest merged with the vogue for the picturesque that flourished during Sarah’s childhood, which made people look afresh at the ancient buildings that formed the centrepiece of paintings, prints and descriptions. One of the key figures of that movement, William Gilpin, artist, author and clergyman, and brother of John Losh’s friend Joseph, was himself a local man, born at Scaleby Castle north of Carlisle. His Observations on Westmoreland and Cumberland was published in 1786. Gilpin loved wildness and hated the ‘classical improvements’ of nearby Corby Castle, the walks and statues with ‘Diana, Neptune, Polyphemus, Nymphs and Satyrs in abundance’, preferring the park now that it was decayed, the statues fallen, the temple in ruins, the cascade overgrown.5


Reading Gilpin, Sarah found that the familiar churches and castles gained a sharp new focus. At Warwick Bridge, where her uncle had inherited the Hall, Gilpin wrote, ‘The antiquarian’s eye is immediately caught here by the parish church; the chancel of which, forming the segment of a circle, and being pierced with small lancet windows, shows at once that it is of Norman origin.’6 Gilpin was unusual in his appreciation of the round-arched ‘Norman’ style – sometimes called ‘Saxon’, since some buildings dated from before the Conquest. Most observers considered these buildings with their solid cylindrical pillars to be crude in comparison to the pointed Gothic of the twelfth century. Yet this was the style that Sarah grew up with and loved: the abbeys and small churches of Cumberland and the great cathedrals of Carlisle and Durham.
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The Norman apse of St Leonards, Warwick Bridge, engraved in the 1790s.


When she was small and went to visit her great-uncle Joseph Liddell at Burgh-by-Sands, she entered the strange land that Gilpin saw as he rode from the Caldbeck Fells towards Carlisle and then crossed Burgh Marsh, breathlessly repeating his sense of its airy distances: ‘a vast, extended plain, flat as the surface of a quiet ocean. I do not remember that land ever gave me before so vast an idea of space.’7 Although the land had been reclaimed and the cattle grazed here now, there were no hedges, bushes or trees. On both sides of the glinting, muddy Solway the land simply seemed to fade into the mountains: ‘Had the plain been boundless, like an Arabian desert, I know not whether it would not have lost the idea of space, which so vast a circumspection gives it.’ There are still great areas of ‘moss’ here, wild spaces of scrub and marsh. It is a place where sounds carry and hang in the air, where perspectives shift and falter, and two boys and a dog half a mile along the shore could be only a hand’s touch away.


This is where Sarah’s family had come from, generations ago. Going by the name of Arlosh, they were said to be ‘grangers’ to Holm Cultram abbey, a Cistercian foundation established in 1150 by King David of Scotland on the edge of the windswept salt marsh. (A fire destroyed the roof in 2006 and the abbey is sad and dusty today, but the nave is still echoing and grand, with strong piers soaring to high arches, and a fine Norman doorway sheltering within the elaborate sixteenth-century porch.) The Arlosh family supposedly worked at one of the abbey’s five granges, the farms that provided food and income for the monks and where the grain and cattle from outlying lands were kept under the eye of the granger, granatarius, manager of the victual. In the nearby village of Newton Arlosh the church tower had thick walls of stone and cobbles, with slit windows and battlements. The defences were needed: Holm Cultram was sacked by Robert the Bruce in 1322, and legends surrounded Losh ancestors, of resistance to Scots raiders and local bandits and of daring sallies across the border.
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Holm Cultram’s grand western facade, with its eagle above the belfry and Renaissance doorway masking the Norman arch.


The Losh family still owned lands near Holm Cultram. Sarah knew the abbey well and the other great Norman foundations like Lanercost priory beyond Brampton, near to the Roman Wall. It was partly because of the Roman heritage that the north of Cumberland so fascinated antiquaries. The Senhouses of Netherhall had been collecting finds from the Roman fort nearby since the 1580s and had even established their own museum in Maryport. Everywhere new sites were being excavated. Local antiquaries were also fascinated by the pre-Roman sites, like the stone circles of Castlerigg near Keswick and Long Meg and her daughters at Little Salkeld, not far from Wreay. All the different people who had passed through the land had left their mark. On the summit of Carrock Fell, which Sarah could see from Woodside, lay the remains of a vast Celtic hill fort. The Celtic peoples called themselves Combrogi or Cymri, ‘Fellow Countrymen’ – giving the county its name – and by the sixth century their kingdom of Rheged stretched from Dumfriesshire to Yorkshire. The spirit of the Celtic church was felt in the great stone crosses, like that of Bewcastle, and their name lingered too in sacred wells, like St Ninian’s well at Brisco, a mile from Woodside. Bede named St Ninian as one of the earliest missionaries, a Briton who studied in Rome and travelled among the Scottish Picts in the fourth century. As the story was embellished by the sixth-century historian Aelred, he was described as the son of a British chieftain born on the south shore of the Solway, while other writers said that on his way back from Rome Ninian had met St Martin of Tours, who sent masons back with him to help build Britain’s first stone church, the ‘White House’ at Whithorn in Galloway, in 397



















